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REPORT BY THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Seesam Insurance AS (‘Seesam’ and ‘the company’) strives to be a company that is easy to communicate with. 
Seesam’s mission is to

 Offer its customers a sense of security 
 Be the best employer 
 Be a reliable partner 
 Be an ethical and forward-looking company. 

Seesam was founded in 1991 and it is part of the leading Finnish financial services group, OP-Pohjola Group. 
OP-Pohjola Group offers a diverse range of banking, asset management and insurance services to companies 
and individuals. The group has over 200 member banks, 4 million customers and 12,000 employees.  

The companies operating in the Baltics under the Seesam trade name were merged by the end of 2011. Seesam 
Insurance AS is a company incorporated and registered in Estonia, which provides insurance services in 
Estonia and, through its branches, in Latvia and Lithuania, having a total of 31 sales and customer services 
offices across the Baltic countries. 

The year 2012 was the first full year for Seesam as a pan-Baltic company. We implemented a new corporate 
structure to ensure effective management of operations across the three countries. Considering the specific 
features of each insurance market as well as their cultural differences, sales and claims handling services 
are managed locally, while other functions and support services are coordinated and managed centrally, on 
a pan-Baltic basis. 

The change did not give rise to any additional obligations for our customers. Seesam remains a financially 
solid and highly professional insurance partner for both individuals and companies.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT AND THE INSURANCE MARKET 

In 2012, the Baltic countries’ economic growth rates dropped significantly compared with the prior year. Al-
though the external environment deteriorated, the uncertainties of the euro area kept entrepreneurs cautious 
and the industrial outputs of the main foreign trade partners declined because of the global economic down-
turn, the Baltic countries managed to be sufficiently flexible. Compared with the EU average, the Estonian, 
Latvian and Lithuanian economies grew remarkably rapidly. Economic growth was driven by high domestic 
consumption, improved investment activity and strong net exports in Latvia and Lithuania. According to the 
Baltic countries’ statistics offices, in real terms, the GDP growth rates for 2012 were as follows: Estonia 3.2%, 
Latvia 5.6% and Lithuania 3.6%.

The non-life insurance market has entered a new growth phase across the Baltics. Gross premium income for 
2012 grew by 6.5% in Estonia, 6.6% in Lithuania and 14.7% in Latvia (year over year). The main factor that 
influences development of the insurance market is the performance of the largest insurance classes, which 
include motor third party liability and comprehensive vehicle insurance and, in Latvia, also health insurance. 

In terms of gross premium income, Seesam’s market share was 10.0% in Estonia (market share has been 
determined taking into account the premium income of foreign insurers’ branches), 5.7% in Latvia and 4.3% 
in Lithuania. 
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR 

New insurance solution for farmers
In January, Seesam began offering an insurance solution for farmers. The new combined product, which 
is currently available only in Latvia, integrates farm machinery and equipment, livestock, other property, 
business interruption and liability insurance. We supported the launch with relevant advertising and com-
munication and presented the solution at major Latvian agricultural fairs. 

State-of-the-art mobile application for smart phones 
In April, we launched a state-of-the-art application for smart phones that allows reporting a loss event without 
a delay. By sending a smart notice of loss, Seesam’s Estonian customers can institute claims handling directly 
on site. All they need to do is open Seesam’s application in their smart phone and fill out a brief notice of loss 
form. It is also possible to attach photographs of the damaged property or other evidence. The application 
automatically registers the time and place of the alert and allows starting claims handling more quickly and 
conveniently. 

Additionally, the application allows finding the locations and contacts of Seesam’s Estonian offices and pro-
vides directions for reaching the closest one. Claims handling, glass repair workshops, and Seesam’s vehicle 
assistance are now within easy reach. 

Seesam is the best service provider
Quality service and customer satisfaction are Seesam’s top priorities. Achievement of the targets is ensured 
by providing regular training to our sales and customer service staff. 

In March, Seesam traditionally participated in the Month of Good Service campaigns in Estonia and Latvia. 
Our customer service offices in Estonia were supplied with relevant materials and keepsakes, creating ad-
ditional opportunities for customers to evaluate the service and provide feedback. In Latvia, service quality 
was measured by both independent mystery shoppers and regular consumers. Feedback was highly positive 
– according to the poll Seesam was the highest-rated insurance company in Latvia. 

Loss prevention
Seesam contributes to loss prevention by disseminating information about insurance and improving people’s 
risk awareness. In 2012, we used different publications, consumer portals and radio programmes to explain 
how people can protect themselves and those close to them against the risks inherent in their everyday lives 
and how they can make their lives safer and more secure. We presented different insurance products and 
explained their nature to help the consumer choose the most appropriate insurance cover and provided practi-
cal guidance for preventing typical loss events.  

Seesam – future employer
In Lithuania, we continue to work with young people to increase their awareness of Seesam as an attractive 
employer. Our Lithuanian head office organises office tours and other student events where young people can 
learn about Seesam and work in the sales, claims handling and administrative departments of an insurance 
company.  
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

€, millions 2012 2011*

Gross premiums written 47.9 37.2

Net earned premiums 43.8 36.9

Claims and claims handling costs paid 26.1 26.0

Net claims and claims handling costs incurred 25.4 27.1

Net profit/loss for the year 5.3 -1.6

Insurance contract liabilities (net of reinsurance) 40.0 39.1

Investments in financial instruments 59.0 52.0

Operating expenses 16.1 11.9

Net loss ratio1 % 58.1 73.4

Net expense ratio2 % 36.3 31.8

Combined ratio3 % 94.4 105.2

* The comparative figures for 2011 include the 12-month figures of Seesam Insurance AS’s Estonian operations and the figures of its 
Latvian and Lithuanian branches as from 1 June 2011.  

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In 2012, Seesam’s performance exceeded expectations. The main factors that had a positive impact on the in-
surance result were growth in premium income, a reasonable level of claims and the situation in the financial 
markets, which supported higher returns on the investment portfolio. Seesam Insurance AS ended the year 
with a net profit of 5.3 million euros (2011: a loss of 1.6 million euros). 

Premium income

Seesam’s main insurance classes are motor third party liability, comprehensive vehicle, individuals’ and legal 
persons’ property, health, travel, and liability insurance. In 2012, the first four classes accounted for over 80% 
of Seesam’s insurance portfolio. Less significant classes include guarantee, goods in transit and small boat 
insurance. 

In 2012, gross premiums written by Seesam in the three Baltic countries totalled 47.9 million euros. Gross 
premium income earned in Estonia accounted for half of Seesam’s total insurance portfolio while the contri-
butions of Latvia and Lithuania were a quarter each.  

1 net claims and claims handling costs incurred / net earned premiums 

2 (acquisition costs and administrative expenses – reinsurance commissions and profit participation) / net earned premiums 

3 net expense ratio + net loss ratio
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Claims paid

Claims and handling costs paid in 2012 totalled 26.1 million euros, 64.2% of which was attributable to 
comprehensive vehicle and compulsory motor third party liability insurance. The ratio of claims and claims 
handling costs paid to gross premiums written was 69.9%. 

Claims and claims handling costs incurred (net of reinsurance) totalled 25.4 million euros and the net loss 
ratio dropped to 58.1% (2011: 27.1 million euros and 73.4% respectively).  

Expenses

Seesam’s operating expenses for the year totalled 16.1 million euros. The net expense ratio was 36.3% and the 
combined ratio was 94.4% (2011: 31.8% and 105.2% respectively). 

Insurance contract acquisition costs amounted to 10.2 million euros and the ratio of acquisition costs to gross 
premiums written was 21.2%. (2011: 7.2 million euros and 19.3% respectively). Administrative expenses 
totalled 5.8 million euros and investment management expenses amounted to 0.1 million euros (2011: 4.6 
million euros and 0.1 million euros respectively).

Investments in financial instruments

At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of Seesam’s investments in financial instruments was 59.0 million 
euros, a 7.0 million euro increase compared with the end of 2011. The investments comprised government 
bonds (37%), debt securities issued by companies (20%) and financial institutions (28%), and equities and 
fund units (15%).

Investments in financial instruments cover Seesam’s insurance contract liabilities 1.5-fold and the minimum 
solvency margin requirement is satisfied 3.6-fold (2011: 1.3-fold and 3.0-fold respectively). Seesam’s invest-
ment income for 2012 amounted to 2.9 million euros (2011: 254 thousand euros). 

PEOPLE

At the end of 2012, Seesam had 306 office and 76 sales staff. In the 12 offices in the larger cities of Estonia 
there were 104 office and 55 sales staff. In the Latvian branch headquartered in Riga there were 112 people 
including 99 office and 13 sales staff. In Latvia, Seesam has six sales and customer service offices. In the 13 
sales and customer service offices of the Lithuanian branch, there were 111 people including 103 office and 
8 sales staff. During the year, headcount increased by around 5%, mostly on account of changes in the sales 
structure and creation of new positions in the support units.   

In 2012, the main focus of Seesam’s human resource work was on improving the staff’s insurance-related 
knowledge and skills and recruiting energetic and competent people to improve our sales capabilities and 
ensure a service quality that meets our standards. 

The most extensive project of the year was a retraining programme for the sales staff that provided the em-
ployees with new insights into insurance products and risk assessment. In addition, we renewed and updated 
our induction programme for new employees, particularly the sales staff, to help them adapt to the organisa-
tion and their new responsibilities more smoothly and to provide better support to their direct managers. 
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Seesam’s human resource activities are aimed at supporting its business. The focus is on training and devel-
oping the staff so as to improve their individual performance and help them realize their potential. On hiring 
new people, we focus not only on competencies but also personal qualities and values and their compatibility 
with those of our organisation. The purpose is to attract people that will help Seesam achieve its targets and 
retain and increase employee satisfaction.

We are pleased to report that according to our annual employee satisfaction survey, both long-tenured and 
new employees value Seesam’s strong reputation and its long-standing, stable position in the insurance  
market.  

MANAGEMENT

In 2012, Seesam’s supervisory board had the following members: 

Mr Jouko Markku Kalevi Pölönen – chairman of the supervisory board

Mr Vesa Tapio Aho

Mr Erkki Mikael Silvennoinen 

Mr Toomas Abner (until 20 November 2012)

Mr Reima Juhana Rytsölä

Mr Jorma Juhani Alanne

In 2012, Seesam’s management board had the following members: 

Mr Ivo Kuldmäe – chairman of the management board (until 20 November 2012)

Mr Toomas Abner – chairman of the management board (from 20 November 2012) 

Mr Aigars Freimanis 

Ms Brigita Elona Blavašciuniene 

Mr Martin Sandberg (until 20 November 2012)

Ms Ita Eglite (until 20 November 2012) 

OUTLOOK FOR 2013 

In 2013, sales in the non-life insurance market will probably increase by a few percent. The upward trend 
will be underpinned by growth in the Baltic countries’ GDPs as well as a relatively low basis for comparison, 
which is attributable to the economic crisis. 

We expect claims paid to remain at the level of 2012. A relatively mild winter, which has a strong impact on 
the frequency of loss incurrence in different classes of vehicle and property insurance, provides a fair basis 
for such a forecast. In respect of major losses, 2012 was quite a good year for non-life insurance companies. 
However, if the number of major losses or natural disasters (such as storms, floods and high water levels 
caused by heavy midsummer rains) increases in 2013, the amount of claims paid may increase as well.   

Competition in the Baltic insurance markets is intensifying. Some insurers have already disclosed their inter-
est in penetrating the Estonian insurance market. Stiff competition will keep insurance prices low, both as 
regards the products designed for individuals and those offered to companies. Therefore, we do not expect 

ˇ  ̄ ˙
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a major upward price adjustment in 2013. Price competition is further escalated by the large proportion of 
policies sold through brokerage channels.  

Our priority for 2013 is to maintain a high level of customer service both in claims handling and sales. We are 
planning to carry out an extensive training programme to enhance the professionalism of our sales team so 
that our customers could get even better service from both our own sales network and our brokerage partners. 
For years, Seesam’s claims handling has been recognised as one of the best in the market. In 2013 we intend 
to keep up the good work.    

Another top priority is to maintain moderate profitability of the insurance portfolio. Seesam is not interested 
in seizing a larger market share at any cost. Instead, we see our mission in offering insurance services on a 
long-term and sustainable basis.

In 2013, we are going to improve cooperation between our operations in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania and 
tighten cooperation with our Finnish parent and Pohjola Bank.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Note 2012 2011

Gross premiums written 4 47,942,295 37,151,597

Written premiums ceded to reinsurers 4 -2,941,921 -2,354,111

Change in the provision for unearned premiums 4 -1,145,486 2,248,697

Reinsurers’ share of change in the provision for  
unearned premiums

4, 17 -97,327 -176,850

Net earned premiums 43,757,561 36,869,333

Investment income, net 5 2,928,453 254,484

Other operating income 6 227,634 292,972

Total income 46,913,648 37,416,789

Claims and claims handling costs incurred 7 -24,777,915 -28,917,479

Reinsurers’ share of claims and claims handling 
costs incurred

7 -647,596 1,853,395

Net claims and claims handling costs incurred -25,425,511 -27,064,084

Acquisition costs 8 -10,178,203 -7,162,580

Administrative expenses 8 -5,796,082 -4,640,038

Investment management expenses 8 -138,930 -116,177

Total operating expenses -16,113,215 -11,918,795

PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 5,374,922 -1,566,090

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/INCOME 22 -111,732 95

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 5,263,190 -1,565,995

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/EXPENSE 
FOR THE YEAR

5,263,190 -1,565,995

The notes on pages 14 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December Note 2012 2011

ASSETS

Property and equipment 10 4,514,326 4,576,938

Intangible assets 11 690,798 721,365

Intangible insurance assets 11 1,992,182 1,886,793

Investments in financial instruments
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Equities and fund units at fair value through profit 
or loss

12,13 9,036,362 7,967,096

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 12,13 49,640,446 43,990,392

Available-for-sale financial assets 13 35,000 35,000

Term deposits 13 290,236 0

Total investments in financial instruments 59,002,044 51,992,488

Other receivables 15 969,759 929,831

Prepaid taxes 50,773 340,298

Reinsurance assets 15 2,920,462 3,883,042

Receivables from reinsurers 15 5,077 1,489

Receivables from policyholders and insurance bro-
kers

15 3,724,857 3,642,121

Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,218,670 3,501,374

TOTAL ASSETS 77,088,948 71,475,739

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 16 3,000,000 3,000,000

Statutory capital reserve 16 1,009,886 1,009,886

Retained earnings (prior years) 21,238,781 22,804,776

Profit/loss for the year 5,263,190 -1,565,995

Total equity 30,511,857 25,248,667

Liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities 17 42,874,820 43,018,493

Payables to reinsurers 15 285,095 237,343

Other insurance payables  18 1,574,128 1,556,274

Payables to suppliers and other payables 19 1,006,557 1,193,070

Other provisions 19 620,341 18,905

Taxes payable 19 193,055 169,854

Deferred income tax liability 22 23,095 33,133

Total liabilities 46,577,091 46,227,072

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 77,088,948 71,475,739
 
The notes on pages 14 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Note 2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Insurance premiums received 46,508,830 35,950,379

Reinsurance premiums paid -2,817,594 -1,774,961

Claims and claims handling costs paid -23,981,036 -24,809,295

Paid in operating expenses -15,483,781 -10,786,009

Interest received 1,660,514 1,815,514

Acquisition and divestment of equity instruments, 
net 

0 6,483,014

Cash flows from debt instruments and term deposits -5,740,466 10,753,381

Investment management expenses paid -118,161 -116,177

Net cash from operating activities 28,306 17,515,846

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 0 -14,635,380

Acquisition of property and equipment and intan-
gible assets

-303,032 -209,241

Net cash used in investing activities -303,032 -14,844,621

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of finance lease liabilities including initial 
down payments 

-7,978 -7,925

Net cash used in financing activities -7,978 -7,925

NET CASH OUTFLOW/INFLOW -282,704 2,663,300

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,501,374 838,074

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 3,218,670 3,501,374

DECREASE/INCREASE IN 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
-282,704 2,663,300

The notes on pages 14 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium

Statutory 
capital 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total

At 31 December 2010 3,000,000 1,298,971 1,009,886 25,382,279 30,691,136

Changes from business combina-
tions

0 -1,298,971 0 -2,577,503 -3,876,474

Loss for the year 0 0 0 -1,565,995 -1,565,995

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year

0 0 0 -1,565,995 -1,565,995

At 31 December 2011 3,000,000 0 1,009,886 21,238,781 25,248,667

Profit for the year 0 0 0 5,263,190 5,263,190

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

0 0 0 5,263,190 5,263,190

At 31 December 2012 3,000,000 0 1,009,886 26,501,971 30,511,857

For further information on share capital and equity, please refer to note 16. 
The notes on pages 14 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1. Significant accounting policies

Seesam Insurance AS is a non-life insurance company incorporated and domiciled in Estonia that is part of 
the leading Finnish financial services group, OP-Pohjola Group. The annual financial statements of Seesam 
Insurance AS for 2012 comprise the figures of Seesam Insurance AS’s Estonian operations and the figures of 
its Latvian and Lithuanian branches. 

1. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

1.1. Statement of compliance

These financial statements for 2012 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS EU). The accounting policies set out below have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements except where indicated otherwise.

Under the Estonian Commercial Code, final approval of the annual report including the financial statements, 
which has been prepared by the management board and approved by the supervisory board, rests with the 
general meeting. Shareholders may decide not to approve the annual report that has been prepared and 
submitted by the management board and may demand preparation of a new annual report.

The management board authorised these financial statements for issue on 18 March 2013.

1.2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Seesam Insurance AS have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for the following assets that are measured at fair value: 

• financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; 

• other receivables (salvage and subrogation receivables); and

• available-for-sale financial assets, except for those financial assets whose fair value cannot be 
determined reliably.

Several International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union require management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions. Although the estimates are based on management’s best 
judgement, actual results may differ from these estimates. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised. Further information on estimates and assumptions is disclosed 
in note 2.

1.3. Branches 

A branch is an economic entity established for offering services on behalf of a company. A branch is not an 
independent legal person. The company is liable for the obligations arising from the activities of a branch. The 
accounts of foreign branches are maintained separately. Branches prepare their financial statements for the 
same periods and using the same accounting policies as the company. Any balances, income and expenses 
and gains and losses arising from intra-company transactions are eliminated in full.

The comparative figures for 2011 include the 12-month figures of Seesam Insurance AS’s Estonian operations 
and the figures of its Latvian and Lithuanian branches as from 1 June 2011. 
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2. Functional and presentation currency
The company’s presentation currency is the euro. Each branch determines its own functional currency and 
records items in its financial statements using that functional currency. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities 
of foreign branches, including fair value adjustments, are translated to euros at foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the reporting date. As at 31 December 2012, the exchange rates were: 1 euro = 0.7028 Latvian lats (LVL), 
1 euro = 3.4528 Lithuanian litas (LTL).

A transaction in a foreign currency is recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rate 
quoted by the central bank at the date of the transaction. In the statement of financial position, monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the central bank exchange rates ruling at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary 
items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year and the 
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within Net gain/loss on financial trans-
actions.

In these financial statements all figures are presented in euros unless indicated otherwise.

3. Cash and cash equivalents
In the statement of financial position and the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand and demand deposits with banks. The statement of cash flows is prepared using the direct 
method. 

4. Insurance contracts
Contracts under which the company accepts significant insurance risk from the policyholder by agreeing to 
compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the 
policyholder are classified as insurance contracts. The company issues short-term insurance contracts which 
mostly provide cover against damage to or loss of property, the liability of persons or short-term damage to 
health. All contracts issued by the company in 2012 and 2011 qualify as insurance contracts under IFRS 4.

4.1. Insurance premiums

Gross premiums written comprise premiums and premium instalments received and receivable that fall due 
in the reporting period. If the due date of a premium or the first premium instalment is later than the effective 
date of the insurance contract, premium income is recognised by reference to the effective date of the contract. 

At the Latvian and Lithuanian branches, the total amount of gross premiums receivable under an insurance 
contract is recognised as income when the contract is signed, regardless of whether some or all of the instal-
ment payments fall due during the reporting period. 

Where a contract does not enter into force, premium income and receivables from policyholders will be 
reduced by the amounts already recorded for the contract. In the case of cancellation, premium income is 
recognised until the date of expiry of the contract (the date as of which the contract is cancelled).
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4.2. Claims

When a claim incurred from an insured event is settled, the payment is recognised in claims incurred in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Until the settlement decision is made, the estimated amount of claims 
incurred is reported in the provision for claims outstanding. Changes in the provision for claims outstanding 
are reported in the statement of comprehensive income. When a settlement decision has been made, the claim 
is reclassified from the provision for claims outstanding to Other insurance payables. See also note 2.2 for 
salvage and subrogation receivables, which are recognised as a reduction of claims incurred. 

4.3. Insurance provisions

4.3.1. Provision for unearned premiums 

The provision for unearned premiums is established for covering the costs of the insured events of effective 
contracts that have not occurred by the reporting date and for related contract management expenses. The un-
earned premiums provision is calculated in all lines of business under the 365-day Pro Rata Temporis method. 
An unearned premium provision of an individual policy represents the same percentage of the gross premium 
of the policy as the duration of the policy after the reporting date represents of the total duration of the policy. 

4.3.2. Provision for claims outstanding

The provision for claims outstanding consists of three components. 

• The provision for claims reported but not settled is set up to cover the final or estimated costs of 
claims that have been reported before the reporting date but are still being handled. 

• The provision for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) is set up separately for each insurance 
class to indemnify claims that have been incurred before the reporting date but have not been 
reported to the insurance company. The methods of estimating IBNR depend on the insurance 
class. IBNR is calculated using statistical methods, taking into account the length of the noti-
fication period, the estimated amount of the claim, the loss ratio, premiums earned and other 
parameters.

• The provision for indirect claims handling costs is designed to cover the indirect handling costs 
of claims reported but not settled and claims incurred but not reported before the reporting date. 

The provision for claims outstanding is not discounted except for the portion relating to the annuities arising 
from the Motor Third Party Liability Insurance Act. The provision for claims outstanding is not reduced by 
the value of probable salvage and subrogation recoveries, except for Lithuania where the provision for claims 
outstanding is reduced by the weighted average value of subrogation receivables that are expected to be 
recoverable in connection with claims that have not yet been fully settled. 

4.3.3. Unexpired risk provision

Provision is made for unexpired risks where estimates indicate that the unearned premiums provision or the 
provision for claims outstanding is not sufficient for covering the claims incurred after the reporting date 
in respect of insurance contracts that entered into force before the reporting date and associated contract 
management expenses. Where the liability adequacy test (LAT) indicates that the liabilities are inadequate, 
the unexpired risk provision is created without reducing deferred acquisition costs.

5. Reinsurance commissions   
Reinsurance commissions are recognised based on the amounts fixed in the contracts made with reinsur-
ers. Reinsurance commissions receivable are recognised in the statement of financial position when the 
contractual right to demand payment is established, i.e. when an insurance contract has been signed with the 
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customer in conformity with the agreed terms and conditions and the related reinsurance premium has been 
recognised. Reinsurance commissions receivable are initially recognised at their fair value together with any 
directly attributable transaction costs and are measured thereafter at their amortised cost.

6. Receivables from reinsurance contracts
Reinsurers’ share of an insurance provision (a receivable under a reinsurance contract) is calculated based on 
the proportion of the insured amount that exceeds risk retention. In the case of unearned premiums, a receiv-
able from a reinsurance contract makes up the same proportion of the reinsurance premium as the unexpired 
portion of the reinsurance contract makes up of the total effective term of the reinsurance contract related to 
the insurance contract in question. If a claim in the provision for claims outstanding exceeds the company’s 
retention level, the portion that exceeds the retention is recognised as a reinsurance receivable. Estimated 
reinsurance receivables are also recognised for unreported claims. 

Receivables arising under reinsurance contracts that are related to insurance provisions are recorded in the 
statement of financial position in Reinsurance assets.

Any impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

7. Financial assets
Financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, deposits with credit institutions, receivables and invest-
ments in securities. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at the trade date i.e. at the date the 
company commits itself (e.g. signs a contract) to purchase or sell a financial asset. Financial assets that are 
transferred are derecognised on the trade date.

Based on the purpose of their acquisition and management’s intentions, all investments in securities have 
been classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale financial assets.

7.1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading (i.e. assets acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, assets that are part of a portfolio of 
financial instruments that are managed together; or derivative instruments that are not hedging instruments) 
as well as other financial assets that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recogni-
tion. 

Financial assets belonging to this category are initially recognised at fair value excluding the transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss (in Investment income). 

7.2. Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus any transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at their amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. The method is used to calculate interest income on the items in subsequent periods. Any 
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

7.3. Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for 
sale or are not classified to any other category of financial assets. After initial recognition available-for-sale 
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financial assets are measured at fair value. Any changes in fair value are recognised in equity. If the fair value 
of equity instruments cannot be measured reliably, the instruments are measured at cost.

In the reporting period, the company had no financial assets that were classified as held-to-maturity invest-
ments.

8. Offsetting
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts, and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

9. Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities (trade payables, other short- and long-term financial liabilities, loans received, debt 
securities issued) are initially recognised at their fair values less the transaction costs and are subsequently 
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. As a rule, the amortised cost of a 
short-term financial liability equals its nominal value. Therefore short-term financial liabilities are measured 
in the statement of financial position in the amount payable. Long-term financial liabilities are initially rec-
ognised at their fair value less the transactions costs and are subsequently measured at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

10. Statutory capital reserve
The capital reserve has been created in accordance with the requirements of the Estonian Commercial Code. 
Each financial year, the company has to transfer at least one-twentieth of its net profit for the period to the 
capital reserve until the reserve reaches one-tenth of the company’s share capital (the Insurance Activities 
Act that was effective until 31 December 2004 required transferring 10% of profit for the period to the capital 
reserve). The capital reserve may be used to cover losses or to increase share capital. It cannot be distributed 
to shareholders.

Transfers to capital reserve are made from the net profit reported in the annual financial statements that have 
been approved by the general meeting. 

11. Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rates of the central banks at the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date 
are retranslated to euros at the central bank exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences 
arising on translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as income and expenses 
respectively in the period in which they arise.

12. Intangible assets

12.1. Intangible assets

An intangible asset is initially recognised at cost. The cost of an intangible asset comprises its purchase price 
and any directly attributable acquisition costs. After initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-
line method. Amortisation rates are determined by reference to the useful life of the asset. As a rule, useful 
lives extend from 3 to 5 years. Amortisation expense is recognised within administrative expenses.
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12.2. Intangible insurance assets (deferred acquisition costs)

The costs of acquiring insurance contracts whose premiums will be collected in subsequent accounting 
periods are capitalised as deferred items and recognised in deferred acquisition costs. Only direct acquisition 
costs are capitalised. Direct acquisition costs that are accounted for on a contract-by-contract basis, such as 
brokerage fees and other intermediation charges, are capitalised on a contract-by-contract basis. The acquisi-
tion costs of motor third part liability insurance that are not accounted for on a contract-by-contract basis are 
capitalised based on the ratio of the provision for unearned premiums to gross premiums written. Acquisition 
costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the insurance contract. Acquisition costs that do 
not qualify for classification as direct acquisition costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

13. Property and equipment
Items of property and equipment are tangible assets with a useful life of over one year. An item of property 
and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its 
purchase price (including customs duties and other non-recoverable taxes) and any costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Items of property and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated deprecia-
tion and impairment losses. 

Depreciation is charged using the straight-line method. Each class of property and equipment is assigned a 
depreciation rate that corresponds to its useful life.

Useful lives assigned to asset classes are as follows:

 Buildings   50 years 
 Machines and equipment 5 years 
 Computers   3-4 years 
 Vehicles   5 years 
 Office equipment and fixtures 10 years 
 Furniture   10 years

Only the difference between the cost and residual value of an item of property and equipment is depreciated 
over its useful life. Depreciation rates, depreciation methods and the residual values assigned to assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date. When an asset’s residual value increases above its carrying amount, depre-
ciation is discontinued.

The company assesses the compliance of an asset’s carrying amount with its recoverable amount on a regular 
basis (or whenever there is any indication that an asset may be impaired). If the recoverable amount of an 
asset (i.e. the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use) is less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

14. Impairment of assets

14.1. Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets may be impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and an impair-
ment loss is recognised only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
with an adverse effect that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event (or events) 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. Objective indications that a financial asset or a group of assets may be impaired include, 
for example:
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• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as a default in settlement;

• it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy;

• the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

• information indicating that there is a significant decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset or group of financial assets although the decrease cannot yet be reliably 
measured.

If there is objective evidence that loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised 
cost are impaired, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of its estimated future cash flows (excluding any future impairment 
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through an allowance account and the amount of the impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If there is indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have 
decreased and the indication can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the originally recognised impairment loss 
is reversed. The reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

14.2. Non-financial assets

An asset with an indefinite useful life is not depreciated or amortised. Instead, it is tested for impairment 
annually, by comparing its carrying amount to its recoverable amount. Depreciable and amortisable assets 
are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that their carrying amount may not be recover-
able. If there is such indication, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and compared to its carrying 
amount. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recover-
able amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset or the smallest identifiable group of assets that 
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets.

15. Corporate income tax
According to the effective Income Tax Act, in Estonia corporate income tax is not levied on profits earned. 
Therefore, no deferred tax assets or liabilities can arise. In place of profit earned, income tax is levied on 
dividends distributed from retained earnings. The amount of tax payable is calculated as 21/79 (2011: 21/79) 
of the amount distributed as the net dividend. 

The income tax payable on the distribution of dividends is recognised as the expense of the period in which 
the dividends are declared, irrespective of the period for which the dividends are declared or the period in 
which the dividends are ultimately distributed. Because of the specific nature of the taxation system, com-
panies registered in Estonia do not acquire deferred tax assets or incur deferred tax liabilities on temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of their assets and liabilities.

The maximum income tax liability that could arise on a dividend distribution is disclosed in note 22.

The profits earned in Latvia and Lithuania are subject to income tax. Before taxation, profit is adjusted for 
permanent and temporary differences as permitted by local tax laws. 
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Corporate income tax rates 2012 2011

Lithuania 15% 15%

Latvia 15% 15%

At foreign branches, deferred tax is recognised using the liability method by which the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities arising from temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the 
statement of financial position. 

16. Finance and operating leases
A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee 
is recognised as a finance lease. Assets acquired with finance leases are carried at the lower of their fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

16.1. The company as a lessee

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

16.2. The company as a lessor

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

17. Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are made for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. A provision is recognised in the statement of 
financial position when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event 
or the company’s operating practice, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are recognised by reference to management’s best estimates regarding the amount and timing of 
the expected outflows. A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position in the amount which, 
according to management’s estimates, is necessary at the reporting date to settle the obligation or to transfer 
it to a third party. Where it is probable that an obligation underlying a provision should be settled later than 
12 months after the reporting date, the provision is recognised at its discounted value (the present value of 
expected outflows), unless the effect of discounting is immaterial. Expenditures on provisions are recognised 
as an expense as incurred.

Promises, guarantees and other commitments whose realization is uncertain or amount cannot be estimated 
sufficiently reliably but which may transform into obligations under certain circumstances are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements as contingent liabilities.

18. Vacation pay liability
Payables to employees include the accrued year-end vacation pay liabilities calculated in accordance with 
employment contracts and the requirements of the Estonian, Latvian and Lithuanian legislation. The vacation 
pay liabilities include relevant social security tax and unemployment insurance contribution liabilities.
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19. Liability adequacy test
At each reporting date, the company assesses whether its recognised insurance liabilities are adequate, us-
ing current estimates of future cash flows (net of deferred acquisition costs and assets acquired in business 
combinations) under its insurance contracts. The liability adequacy test (LAT) is performed separately for 
each class of insurance by determining the adequacy of gross provisions, i.e. without considering the effect of 
reinsurance. The model applied relies on the loss ratio and expense ratio estimates for each class of insurance. 

If that assessment shows that the carrying amount of insurance liabilities (less related deferred acquisition 
costs and related intangible assets) is inadequate in the light of the estimated future cash flows, the entire 
deficiency is recognised in profit or loss and a provision is recognised based on the test results (the unexpired 
risk provision). 

Methods differ by country. 

In Lithuania, the loss and expense ratios of the main insurance classes are forecast based on the data for 
the past four quarters. In insurance classes where the volume of premiums is insufficient, where results are 
volatile and where rate-setting has not changed significantly in recent years, loss ratios are forecast by taking 
into account the loss ratios of the past three years and by eliminating major losses. Future cash flows also 
include the expected cash flows from long-term home insurance contracts. 

In Latvia, loss and expense ratios are forecast based on annual statistics; similar insurance classes are viewed 
together.

In Estonia, the loss and expense ratios of the main insurance classes are forecast based on the data for the past 
four quarters; elimination of major losses is considered case by case. Smaller insurance classes are aggregated 
for the purpose of liability adequacy testing. 

The principles of recognising the provision for unexpired risks are described in section 4.3.3. and the test 
results are described in note 17.

20. Revenue

20.1. Other income

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis when the underlying transaction has been performed.

20.2. Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial asset (or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset.

20.3. Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established and when the collection of 
income is probable.

20.4. Insurance premiums

Recognition of insurance premiums is described in section 4.1.

21. Operating expenses
The general principle for allocating costs to line items in the statement of comprehensive income is the 
following: costs that can be allocated directly are allocated directly. Costs that cannot be allocated directly 
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are allocated in proportion to the number of the employees involved or the estimated working time of the 
employees involved.

21.1. Claims handling costs

Claims handling costs comprise expenses directly related to the handling and payment of claims as well as 
any administrative expenses that are indirectly related to claims handling. Indirect handling costs include 
claim handlers’ salaries with associated taxes and other expenses charged in proportion to the estimated time 
spent on claims handling.

21.2. Acquisition costs

Acquisition costs arise on the conclusion of insurance contracts and consist of three components:

Direct costs such as commissions and expenses related to employees directly involved in the conclusion of 
contracts.

Allocable costs such the costs of communication, advertising, printed matter, sales representatives’ training, 
premises, office supplies, etc. 

Indirect costs such as administrative personnel’s salaries, payroll taxes and other costs calculated in propor-
tion to the estimated time spent on sales support.

21.3. Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses are related to the collection of premiums, portfolio management, the processing of 
bonuses and discounts and incoming and outgoing reinsurance. Administrative expenses include personnel 
expenses and depreciation and amortisation expense to the extent those are not included in acquisition, 
claims handling or investment expenses. 

Administrative expenses consist of two components:

Direct costs such as costs directly related to the administrative personnel, their training expenses, etc.

Allocable costs such as the costs incurred in connection with communication, premises, office supplies, etc.

21.4. Investment management expenses

Investment management expenses comprise the fees paid to Pohjola Asset Management Ltd under an asset 
management contract for the administration and management of the investment portfolio.

22. New International Financial Reporting Standards and the interpretations 
originated by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Commit-
tee (IFRIC) 
The following new Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2012 
and have therefore not been applied in preparing these financial statements.

The company does not expect the following standard to have material impact on the financial statements 
since management considers the methods and assumptions currently used to measure the fair value of assets 
to be consistent with IFRS 13.

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
(Effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier ap-
plication is permitted.)
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The standard contains an extensive disclosure framework that provides additional disclosures to existing 
requirements to provide information that enables financial statement users to assess the methods and inputs 
used to develop fair value measurements and, for recurring fair value measurements that use significant 
unobservable inputs, the effect of the measurements on profit or loss or other comprehensive income.

It is expected that amendments to the following two standards, when initially applied, will have a significant 
impact on the level of disclosure in the financial statements. However, the company is not able to prepare an 
analysis of the impact this will have on the financial statements until the date of initial application:

• Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013; to be applied retrospectively.) 
 
The amendments contain new disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are 

• offset in the statement of financial position; or

• subject to master netting arrangements or similar agreements. 

• Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

Standards and amendments that are expected to have no impact on the company’s financial performance and 
financial statements: 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of Items of Other Com-
prehensive Income

• Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

• IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits

• IAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements

• IAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Note 2. Use of significant accounting estimates and judgements 

1. Estimates used on the calculation of provisions

1.1. Provisions for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)

A provision for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) is set up separately for each insurance class to 
indemnify claims incurred but not reported to the company before the reporting date. The methods applied 
on the calculation of the IBNR provisions differ by insurance class. 

The methods used to calculate the IBNR provisions include the chain-ladder method, the Bornhutter-Ferguson 
method as well as other statistical methods that take into account the estimated reporting pattern of claims. 
Since the methods are based on historical claims development information, it is assumed that the historical 
claims development pattern will recur in the future. 
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The company believes that the provisions made at the end of 2012 are adequate but due to the inherent un-
certainty of the loss provisioning process, it cannot be assured that the provisions will ultimately prove to be 
adequate.

In insurance classes where the available data do not allow using statistical methods, the IBNR provision is 
calculated as a percentage of the past four quarters’ net earned premiums.

1.2. Provision for indirect claims handling costs 

A provision for indirect claims handling costs is set up separately for each insurance class as a percentage of 
claims incurred but not settled and claims incurred but not reported. In Latvia and Lithuania the provision 
is calculated using the ratio of indirect claims handling costs to claims paid. In Estonia, it is calculated using 
the past calendar year’s ratio of indirect claims handling costs to net earned premiums. Since the ratios are 
determined using historical information, it is assumed that the ratios of indirect claims handling costs to the 
above indicators will remain constant.

1.3. Measurement of claims reported but not settled 

The provision for claims reported but not settled is calculated by individual assessment of each case. 

In vehicle-related insurance classes (motor third party liability insurance and comprehensive vehicle insur-
ance), a preliminary assessment is made on the inspection of the damaged vehicle - the amount of loss is 
estimated and provided for. The vehicle is then sent to a repair shop where the damage and repair costs are 
specified. Based on the calculations made by the repair shop, the provision is adjusted. If repair of the vehicle 
is impracticable due to financial reasons or the terms of the insurance contract (the insurance cover is the 
replacement cost of a new asset), the insured amount is provided for.

In the event of personal injury in motor third party liability (motor TPL) insurance, reported medical expenses 
are provided for. The estimated medical treatment expenses and the costs of temporary incapacity for work 
are provided for taking into account the severity of the injuries and the previous income of the injured person 
(reported by the medical establishment and the injured person). 

The provision for motor third party liability pensions (compensation for permanent incapacity for work or 
compensation for the reduced income of the family members of the deceased) is established for payment 
of pension annuities. Motor third party liability pensions are calculated using the motor TPL insurance 
database. Annuities have been calculated using the life tables prepared by Statistics Estonia for 2010. The 
provisions are discounted using a 0.75% discount rate.

In property insurance, the loss is initially estimated and later adjusted on the basis of expert opinions and 
preliminary calculations. In the case of contracts which provide for the deductible, the provision does not 
include the amount of the deductible.

In the event of theft, the insured amount is provided for immediately and without the deductible.

In travel insurance, a provision is established for the claim submitted or, in the case of larger losses, the 
estimated extent of the loss (compensation for medical treatment expenses). 

A specific feature of accident insurance is that a provision is made for potential disability or death benefits 
because, as a rule, the claim for daily allowance and compensation for injury is indemnified immediately. 

2. Other receivables

2.1. Salvaged assets

Salvaged assets are acquired under vehicle insurance and property insurance contracts, when the company 
purchases an asset damaged in an insured event and realizes it. The company realizes salvaged assets 
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through a business partner that arranges the sale of the asset by public auction. A salvaged vehicle is assigned 
an estimated sales price. 

In the case of vehicles, the sales price is determined first based on the nature and extent of the damage and 
thereafter based on the popularity of the brand and the model in the market. 

A salvaged asset is measured on acquisition and at the reporting date at its estimated sales price. Salvaged 
assets are reported within other receivables in the statement of financial position and a as a reduction of 
claims incurred in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.2. Subrogation receivables

Subrogation receivables comprise amounts collected from parties who have caused insured events, if so 
provided in the insurance terms and conditions for the class. In voluntary insurance this happens when the 
party causing the insured event is liable under civil proceedings, and in compulsory motor third party li-
ability insurance in the cases provided for in the law. After the settlement of the claim, the company assesses 
whether it is reasonable to claim the expenses from the party that caused the insured event by reference to the 
probable outcome and cost-benefit ratio of the proceedings. The company may agree a payment schedule with 
the person who acknowledges a claim but is unable to settle in a lump sum. A claim that is not acknowledged 
or which the debtor does not respond to is reviewed to decide whether to bring an action in the court of law 
or to waive the claim. 

A subrogation receivable is recognised on acquisition and at the reporting date as a receivable in the state-
ment of financial position and a reduction of claims incurred in the statement of comprehensive income. 
The amount of a subrogation receivable is estimated based on the probability of its collection, the company’s 
historical experience with similar items, the nature of the insurance class, and the information available on 
the creditworthiness of the person that caused the insured event.

Note 3. Risk management

1. Risk management policies
The purpose of risk management is to manage and evaluate the risks faced by the company so as to ensure 
its stable, reliable and profitable operation. The biggest threat that could affect the operation of an insurance 
company is risk-taking, which is inherent in the insurance business. However, in addition to insurance risk 
management, the company’s risk management also covers financial and operational risk management.

To better prevent the threats arising from insurance and operational risks and to coordinate relevant risk 
management, at the year-end Seesam created the position of Chief Risk Officer (CRO) responsible for coopera-
tion with OP-Pohjola Group’s Operational Risk and Compliance unit.

2. Insurance risk management
On entering into an insurance contract, the policyholder transfers its insurance risk to the insurer. Insurance 
risk arising from a non-life insurance contract consists of two elements: the occurrence of one or more insured 
events and the extent of the event whereby both elements are random. Insurance terms and conditions specify 
only compensation of a loss resulting from an uncertain future event (the insured event).

Assuming that loss events are not related, theoretically relative expenses on claims paid should decrease in 
the case of a larger insurance portfolio. In reality, that assumption does not apply with 100% certainty and 
the so-called residual risk always exists, which may result from a change in the operating environment, the 
economic cycle, or changes in compulsory insurance products induced by the needs of society. It is also 
necessary to consider the accumulation of risks, i.e. catastrophe risk, which may realize by means of natural 
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forces or human activity and may combine a number of unrelated risks into one major risk. The most likely 
catastrophe scenarios include:

• storm and flooding caused by a storm; 

• torrential rain and flooding caused by rain;

• shipwreck or plane accident;

• pandemic (would influence Seesam through travel insurance). 

The most important tools for insurance risk management are risk selection, rate-setting, reinsurance, portfo-
lio analysis, monitoring portfolio dynamics, and the scope of covers provided. 

Risk selection is specified in class-specific product guidelines that set forth both risk selection criteria and risk 
limits. Product guidelines provide general limits for each product. Employees are granted their personal limits 
when they have passed the required examinations and tests. The higher the level of competence, the more 
varied and greater the employee’s signature rights. Signature rights are established by regulations issued by 
the head of development department.  

Seesam’s reinsurance contracts are mostly of the excess of loss type and purchased through the parent 
company Pohjola Insurance Ltd. There are both risk-based and catastrophe reinsurance contracts. The rein-
surance programme ensures the company’s solvency in the event of any loss, regardless of size. The parent 
company’s reinsurers are mostly companies whose rating is at least A according to Standard & Poor’s. Seesam 
has also fronting type insurance contracts under which Seesam has reinsured the risks in full and does not 
bear any risk.

In October 2012, Seesam obtained a reinsurance licence. 

The company has developed methods for analysing the portfolio and monitoring portfolio dynamics, which 
vary according to the nature of the insurance class. The company monitors performance of insurance classes 
through monthly reports and adjusts the rate for a class when necessary.  

The scope of insurance cover is determined by the text of insurance terms and conditions and the additional 
text of the policies. All insurance terms and conditions and important texts of the policies are approved by 
the management board prior to their implementation.

The table below provides an overview of the concentration of liabilities arising from insurance contracts at 
the end of 2012 by insurance class.

Liabilities 
from insurance 

contracts: 
gross

Liabilities 
from insurance 

contracts: 
reinsurers’ 

share

Liabilities 
from insurance 
contracts: net

Motor TPL insurance 14,154,939 1,164,309 12,990,630

Comprehensive auto insurance 8,358,992 4,636 8,354,356

Property insurance (legal persons) 7,676,288 1,241,129 6,435,159

Property insurance (individuals) 4,559,780 21,377 4,538,403

Short-term health insurance 4,024,751 1,078 4,023,673

Liability insurance 3,541,235 459,751 3,081,484

Other classes 558,835 28,182 530,653

Total 42,874,820 2,920,462 39,954,358
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3. Types of insurance contracts 

3.1. Fixed-term insurance contract 

A fixed-term insurance contract is entered into for a fixed period that is recorded on the policy. On the expiry 
of the term, the contract expires (performance of obligations arising from the contract may continue). The 
term of a fixed-term insurance contract is generally one year. As an exception, for example in the case of 
contracts relating to specific projects, the term may be shorter or longer than one year. Seesam issues fixed-
term contracts in all classes of insurance.

3.2. Revolving insurance contract 

A revolving contract is entered into for a fixed period that is recorded on the policy. On the expiry of the 
term, the contract will automatically renew for another period of the same duration, unless one of the parties 
terminates the contract by the agreed procedure. At the moment, revolving insurance contracts are offered 
in Estonia only.

4. Classes of insurance  
Seesam issues insurance contracts in the following classes: motor third party liability insurance, compre-
hensive vehicle insurance, individuals’ and legal persons’ property insurance, travel and accident insurance, 
health insurance, liability insurance, guarantee insurance, goods in transit insurance and small boat insur-
ance. 

4.1. Motor third party liability insurance

Motor third party liability insurance is a compulsory class whose terms and conditions and compensation 
rules are prescribed by motor third party liability insurance law and other legislation. The insurance cover 
is effective also outside Estonia, providing cover for traffic losses incurred in the EU countries and countries 
that are members of the green card system. In several countries that are members of the green card system, 
there is no maximum indemnity limit for personal injury and on the occurrence of an insured event local 
legislation and insured amounts will apply.  

The rates of motor third party liability insurance are determined using the bonus malus system that adjusts 
premiums according to claims history – when no claims have occurred, premiums decline and when claims 
have occurred, premiums increase.

Claims paid in motor third party liability insurance include mostly property damage indemnities. However, 
long-term personal injury benefits, such as insurance pensions and benefits for permanent incapacity for work 
that are paid out over decades are also possible. 

4.2. Individuals’ and legal persons’ property and vehicle insurance and insurance of 
persons

Seesam insures property, vehicles and persons in relevant insurance classes based on the location of the 
property and the person and, in the case of a vehicle, the place of registration of the vehicle.  Taking into 
account cross-border insurance restrictions, Seesam generally selects into its insurance portfolio insurance 
risks that are located in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. Outside the Baltic countries, Seesam insures business 
customers with an international reach whose assets are mainly located in Estonia, Latvia and/or Lithuania 
but who also operate in other EEA countries. 

The insurance cover offered varies, extending from all-risk insurance to the insurance of specific risks. 
Depending on the nature of the property and the terms and conditions of the insurance class, intra-company 
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underwriting guidelines and manuals set forth specific limits for both the insured amount and the nature and 
scope of insurance cover. Seesam also monitors accumulation of risks. 

In property insurance, the factors which affect risk the most include asset type, quality of construction or 
assembly, age, purpose of use and security. Major claims generally result from the realization of the risks 
of fire, water damage or natural disasters. In the insurance of persons, the factors which may lead to major 
claims include the person’s risk behaviour, lifestyle and health-related characteristics.   

In selecting risks, Seesam observes both internal product and risk guidelines and manuals that provide more 
specific rules and highlight areas of higher risk as well as the requirements of its reinsurance contracts. The 
process of drafting and signing insurance contracts is subject to regular quality and compliance reviews and 
relevant guidelines and manuals are adjusted whenever changes are made to a product or the sales process.   

In 2012, Seesam drafted terms and conditions specifically designed for providing insurance to farmers. The 
purpose is to offer an opportunity for insuring both livestock and property. 

4.3. Health insurance

Seesam offers health insurance to companies and their employees. The insured amount of medical treatment 
costs is limited per person. Most claims incurred involve outpatient treatment where claims paid (benefits) 
are small. In-patient treatment claims are larger and the contracts specify the maximum benefit rates. Seesam 
offers health insurance only in Latvia. 

4.4. Guarantee insurance

Guarantee insurance is mainly offered to partner travel agencies in Latvia and Lithuania.

4.5. Liability insurance

Liability insurance covers property damage and personal injuries inflicted by the policyholder on third par-
ties. On the assessment and selection of liability insurance risks, it is particularly important to examine the 
customer’s field of activity, skills and experience in the field of activity. Seesam has a list of activities for 
which liability insurance is not provided. So far, major personal injury claims have been infrequent. The 
growth in liability insurance claims is mainly attributable to incidents of water damage at buildings managed 
by apartment associations and roof leakage and basement flooding caused by the condition of the building. 

In 2012, Seesam developed and launched new terms and conditions for the professional liability insurance of 
attorneys-at-law. The purpose of the insurance product is to release the policyholder from the obligation to 
pay a third party compensation for the loss caused due to an insured event during the effective term of the 
insurance contract. The principle arises from the professional liability of an attorney, which is set out in the 
Bar Association Act. 

In liability insurance, the indemnification process is generally long, as under effective legislation the substan-
tiation of claims (creation of liability) is a long-term process. To date, most indemnities have been paid in a 
lump sum. However, long-term indemnities such as pension and permanent incapacity for work benefits are 
also possible. 

4.6. Goods in transit insurance

Goods in transit insurance covers the damage caused to goods and other property during their transport, 
loading, unloading and interim storage. In this class, the main risk factors are the nature of the goods and the 
route and means of transport. Loss events occur relatively seldom, and their nature varies. Generally, claims 
are relatively small. 
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4.7. Small boat insurance

Small boat insurance indemnifies the losses incurred in connection with the damage, destruction or loss of 
an insured small boat. Small boat insurance is always provided together with small boat liability insurance 
where the insured amount is 190,000 euros. The insured amounts for small boats rarely exceed 150,000 euros. 
Seesam offers small boat insurance only in Estonia.

In our opinion Seesam’s insurance portfolio is sufficiently diversified both in terms of risks insured and 
classes of insurance. Therefore, there are no significant concentrations of risks.

5. Sensitivity analysis
The following sensitivity analysis characterises the effect of a change in any of the main insurance risks on 
the company’s result of operations, solvency margin and combined ratio for 2012. Important risk parameters 
include a change in the size of the insurance portfolio, a change in claims and a change in administrative 
expenses. The impact was determined for one parameter at a time assuming that all other conditions remain 
constant. 

Risk parameter

Amount in 
statement of 

comprehensive 
income for 
2012 (€m)

Change in risk  
parameter

Impact on net 
profit/equity 

for 2012  (€m)

Impact on 
combined 

ratio for 2012

Gross premiums written 47.9 Decrease 1% -0.4 -0.95%

Net claims 25.4 Growth 1% -0.3 -0.58%

Major loss
1 additional 

claim
-0.4 -0.91%

Operating expenses 16.1 Growth 5% -0.8 -1.83%

6. Analysis of claims development
The table below provides a historical overview of the incurrence and settlement of claims and the adequacy of 
provisions established (gross claims, in thousands of euros). The claims development table allows comparing 
the estimates of claims outstanding included in the financial statements with prior period losses. Claims are 
presented by the year of incurrence. The table contains cumulative claims estimates (claims paid, including 
subrogation and salvage recoveries, and the provisions for claims outstanding, including the IBNR provision). 
The table does not contain information on actual claims handling costs and the provision for indirect claims 
handling costs. 

Management believes that the provisions for claims outstanding as at the end of 2012 are adequate. However, 
as provisions are created on the basis of estimates and relevant factors change over time, the final amounts 
may differ from current estimates.

Year of incurrence         (€’000) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

At end of year of incurrence 21,605 19,658 20,247 32,980 30,921

One year later 19,471 18,449 19,778 27,303  
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Two years later 18,933 18,234  19,408    

Three years later 18,733 17,862    

Four years later 18,703        

Cumulative claims until 
31 December 2012

18,471 17,527 17,889 23,782 18,473

Provision for claims incurred by 
year (including IBNR) at  
31 December 2012

239 262 1,254 3,521 12,448

The claims incurred in 2011 include the claims incurred by Seesam’s branches during the period 1 June 2011 
- 31 December 2011. The claims incurred in 2012 include the claims incurred by Seesam’s branches during 
the full year. At 31 December 2012, the provision for claims incurred before 2008 (including IBNR) amounted 
to 1,926 thousand euros.

7. Financial risk management
Both insurance activities and investing activities involve financial risk, which may manifest itself in:

• Market risk – the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument risk will 
fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Market risk consists of three types of risk: interest rate 
risk, currency risk and other price risk. 

• Credit risk – the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause the other party to incur 
a financial loss by failing to discharge its contractual obligations

• Liquidity risk – the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities

The company is exposed to potential financial risks through financial assets and liabilities, reinsurance assets 
and liabilities and insurance contract receivables and liabilities.

The main components of financial risk are interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

In the insurance business, the realization of a risk manifests itself in the impairment of assets representing 
cover for insurance provisions or the settlement difficulties of a transaction partner (e.g. a reinsurance part-
ner). In investing activities, the main risks related to financial assets are interest rate risk, which manifests 
itself in a lower than expected yield of investments, and price risk, which results from a decrease in the value 
of investments.  

The risks related to investing activities are managed by applying policies and guidelines that have been 
approved at group level. The risk management strategy and guidelines as well as the investment plan are 
reviewed and updated at least once a year. For risk management purposes, an internal ALM (asset and li-
ability management) policy has been implemented. The policy is designed to ensure that the risks taken do 
not exceed risk tolerance. 

Seesam’s management board reviews and approves the company’s investment plan annually for each sub-
sequent financial year. The investment plan sets out the structure of investments; expected rates of return; 
limits for credit, interest rate and currency risks; limits for ratings; and the powers granted for making invest-
ment decisions as well as the scope of such powers. It is also monitored that the investment portfolio meets 
the requirements of the Insurance Activities Act.
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Seesam’s investment portfolio is managed by Pohjola Asset Management Ltd that pays special attention to 
dispersing financial risks, investment liquidity and counterparty risk. Every year the investment policy for 
the next financial year is set based on the prevailing economic situation. 

According to the parent company’s business strategy, funds are invested in fixed and floating rate debt securi-
ties and equities as well as real estate in Finland and other countries with the purpose of earning a good 
return in the long term.

To mitigate potential financial risks, investments are spread between different financial instruments. Invest-
ments are made considering the provisions of the Investment Activities Act and the company’s annual invest-
ment plan, which is aimed at generating sufficient income, mitigating risks and covering insurance contract 
liabilities. 

7.1. Market risk 

Market risk arises from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and the prices of financial assets.

7.1.1. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The company’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest 
rate risk include fixed and floating rate debt securities and units in debt securities and interest rate funds.

Seesam’s investments comprise mainly debt securities. In 2012, the weighted average duration of debt securi-
ties was 1.83 years and their weighted average yield to maturity was 0.60% (2011: 1.78 years and 1.94%).

Distribution of debt securities by interest rate as at 31 December 2012

  Cost Fair value

Fixed income debt securities    

Interest rate 0-2.50% 9,084,341 9,172,618

Interest rate 2.51% -3.50% 8,513,042 8,759,621

Interest rate 3.51% -4.50% 20,796,134 21,565,348

Interest rate 4.51% -5.50% 4,453,706 4,485,687

Interest rate 5.51% -6.50% 2,236,300 2,214,499

Interest rate 6.51% -7.50% 2,897,658 2,942,460

Total 47,981,181 49,140,233

Floating rate debt securities 492,500 500,213

Total debt securities 48,473,681 49,640,446

Distribution of debt securities by interest rate as at 31 December 2011

  Cost Fair value

Fixed income debt securities    

Interest rate 0-2.50% 3,449,812 3,527,017

Interest rate 2.51% -3.50% 12,173,866 12,268,983



33Annual report 2012

Interest rate 3.51% -4.50% 18,528,316 18,818,436

Interest rate 4.51% -5.50% 6,341,877 6,326,636

Interest rate 5.51% -6.50% 2,097,971 2,095,480

Interest rate 6.51% -7.50% 269,658 242,373

Interest rate 7.51% -8.50% 259,240 212,318

Total 43,120,740 43,491,243

Floating rate debt securities 492,500 499,149

Total debt securities 43,613,240 43,990,392

The following analysis of the sensitivity of investments to changes in interest rates has been performed using 
modified duration. Modified duration is the measure of the sensitivity of the price of a security to a change 
in market interest rates, i.e. return. Mathematically, this is expressed as a percentage change in the price of a 
security resulting from a 1% change in yield.

Market value 
at 31 Dec 2012

Risk parameter Change
Effect on  

market value 
at 31 Dec 2012

Interest rate risk 54,631,960
Change in 

interest rates
1.0% 1,057,674

The sensitivity analysis has been performed based on debt securities at fair value through profit or loss of 
49,640,446 euros and units in debt securities and interest rate funds of 4,991,514 euros (included in Equities 
and fund units at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of financial position). Units in equity funds 
of 4,044,848 euros have been excluded from the sensitivity analysis – the funds earn income on changes in 
the prices of the shares included in the portfolio and the dividends paid on those shares. Thus, they are not 
exposed to interest rate risk. 

In 2011, the effect on market value was 895,536 euros. The increase in risk results from growth in the debt 
securities portfolio. 

7.1.2. Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. As at the end of 2012, 99.8% of investments in financial instru-
ments were denominated in euros. Financial assets denominated in currencies other than the euro accounted 
for only 6.0% of all financial assets.

All (100%) receivables from policyholders and insurance brokers are settled in euros, Latvian lats or Lithua-
nian litas. Since the exchange rates of the Latvian lats and the Lithuanian litas are fixed by the central banks 
of those countries, the currencies are pegged to the euro, and the fluctuation of their exchange rates is limited 
by a fluctuation corridor set forth in the law, the financial instruments are not exposed to any significant 
currency risk and the company considers currency risk very low.
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Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by currency as at 31 December 2012

  EUR USD LVL LTL GBP Total

Debt securities 49,640,446 0 0 0 0 49,640,446

Equities 35,000 0 0 0 0 35,000

Fund units 9,036,362 0 0 0 0 9,036,362

Term deposits 142,523 0 0 147,713 0 290,236

Cash and cash 
equivalents

1,967,691 13,479 460,163 777,337 0 3,218,670

Other receivables 713,734 0 13,571 17,059 0 744,364

Receivables from 
reinsurers

3,940 19 0 0 1,118 5,077

Receivables from 
policyholders and 
insurance brokers

1,131,794 0 1,214,072 1,378,991 0 3,724,857

Total 62,671,490 13,498 1,687,806 2,321,100 1,118 66,695,012

Financial liabilities 791,328 52,140 622,561 673,984 3,973 2,143,986

Net exposure 61,880,162 -38,642 1,065,245 1,647,116 -2,855 64,551,026

Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by currency as at 31 December 2011

  EUR USD LVL LTL GBP Total

Debt securities 43,990,392 0 0 0 0 43,990,392

Equities 35,000 0 0 0 0 35,000

Fund units 7,967,096 0 0 0 0 7,967,096

Cash and cash 
equivalents

2,604,935 2,506 802,100 91,833 0 3,501,374

Other receivables 681,272 0 0 16,411 0 697,683

Receivables from 
reinsurers

405 18 0 0 1,066 1,489

Receivables from 
policyholders and 
insurance brokers

1,171,919 3,247 1,022,858 1,444,097 0 3,642,121

Total 56,451,019 5,771 1,824,958 1,552,341 1,066 59,835,155

Financial liabilities 1,148,039 1,720 780,831 370,434 23,109 2,324,133

Net exposure 55,302,980 4,051 1,044,127 1,181,907 -22,043 57,511,022
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7.1.3. Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate be-
cause of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether 
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

The company is exposed to other price risk through investments in equity and debt instruments. If at 31 
December 2012 the value of debt securities and fund units had increased/decreased by 10%, the company’s 
result of operations and available solvency margin would have increased/decreased by 5,770,571 euros (2011: 
5,104,354 euros).

The following table provides an overview of debt securities by their geographical area. Changes in the econo-
mies of different geographical areas may affect the fair values of financial instruments from those geographi-
cal areas.

As at 31 December  2012 2011

Austria 4,500,093 0

Belgium 2,543,747 1,968,149

Netherlands 9,174,057 4,664,662

Ireland 400,046 396,110

Italy 261,550 1,751,843

Lithuania 0 486,644

Norway 1,071,251 499,149

France 2,488,121 4,775,137

Sweden 2,563,520 2,835,079

Germany 5,783,852 8,220,579

Finland 10,446,539 12,781,948

Great Britain 6,515,515 2,964,121

Switzerland 1,094,874 0

Denmark 1,682,018 1,541,236

USA 1,115,263 1,105,735

Total 49,640,446 43,990,392

7.2. Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge its obligations.

Seesam’s credit risk exposures are related to policyholders’ and intermediaries’ solvency, arrangement of 
reinsurance and investment management. The terms of effectiveness of insurance cover are set out in the 
company’s general contract terms and conditions. The contracts signed with insurance intermediaries set out 
settlement terms and adherence to those terms is checked systematically.



36Annual report 2012

Reinsurance contracts have mostly been signed with the parent company whose credit rating according to 
Standard & Poor’s is A+. 

The following table outlines receivables that are exposed to credit risk.

As at 31 December  2012 2011

Receivables from policyholders and insurance brokers 3,724,857 3,642,121

- Not past due 2,533,807 2,575,793

- Past due 1,191,050 1,066,328

Receivables from reinsurers 5,077 1,489

- Not past due 3,535 1,489

- Past due 1,542 0

 
Receivables have not been written down because none of them is more than 60 days past due.  

The credit risk of financial instruments is mitigated by selecting reliable institutions for holding the deposits 
and securities and dispersing investments between counterparties (different issuers, countries, rating classes, 
maturity dates). The minimum credit rating for investments in the fixed income debt securities portfolio is 
BB-. 

Investments in debt securities whose rating is below BBB- but at least BB- may account, at most, to 10% of the 
total market value of the debt securities portfolio. As at 31 December 2012, the company’s portfolio did not 
include any such debt securities.

In addition, the company monitors the average credit rating of the debt securities portfolio. This indicator has 
to be at least A-.  

In 2012, the proportion of investments in government bonds decreased by 15.5 percentage points (2012: 43.7% 
and 2011: 59.2%). The company sold mostly bonds issued by the governments of southern European countries 
(France and Italy). In the case of government bonds, counterparty insolvency is still rather unlikely.

In 2012, the proportion of investments in debt securities issued by financial institutions grew by 15.1 percent-
age points (2012: 34.1% and 2011: 19.0%). The securities carry higher risk than government bonds but their 
yields are higher.

In 2012, 87.8% of the company’s fixed income investments were in securities whose issuers’ ability to meet 
their obligations was very strong or strong (credit rating of at least A- according to Standard & Poor’s). In 2011, 
the proportion was 89.2%.

Distribution of fixed and floating yield investments by credit rating (carrying amounts)

As at 31 December  2012 % 2011 %

AAA 20,989,308 42.3% 22,905,705 52.1%

AA+ 4,900,139 9.9% 1,782,118 4.0%

AA 0 0.0% 2,365,928 5.4%

AA- 5,497,336 11.1% 1,671,278 3.8%

A+ 3,128,283 6.3% 2,531,617 5.7%
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A 3,246,286 6.5% 4,036,277 9.2%

A- 5,816,988 11.7% 3,947,753 9.0%

BBB+ 1,805,122 3.6% 1,491,302 3.4%

BBB 4,256,984 8.6% 3,258,414 7.4%

Total 49,640,446 100% 43,990,392 100%

7.3. Liquidity risk 

Realization of liquidity risk may lead to a situation where financial assets need to be sold at a price significantly 
below their market value. The primary purpose of liquidity risk management is to ensure the company’s abil-
ity to meet its obligations under insurance contracts and its commitments arising from insurance activities on 
a timely basis. Liquidity risk, which may halt insurance activities and satisfaction of obligations arising from 
insurance contracts, is mitigated by investing in short-term deposits (including overnight deposits), various 
funds (equity, debt securities and interest rate funds), debt securities and highly liquid listed equities. 

Distribution of financial assets by remaining maturity as at 31 December 2012

Remaining maturity 0-1 years 1-3 years 3-5 years

Equities and fund units at fair value through profit 
or loss

9,036,362 0 0

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 6,868,768 33,988,753 8,782,925

Available-for-sale financial assets 35,000 0 0

Term deposits 290,236 0 0

Other receivables 744,364 0 0

Receivables from reinsurers 5,077 0 0

Receivables from policyholders and insurance 
brokers

3,724,857 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 3,218,670 0 0

Total 23,923,334 33,988,753 8,782,925

Distribution of financial assets by remaining maturity as at 31 December 2011

Remaining maturity 0-1 years 1-3 years 3-5 years

Equities and fund units at fair value through profit 
or loss

7,967,096 0 0

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 10,910,142 28,405,478 4,674,772

Available-for-sale financial assets 35,000 0 0

Other receivables 697,683 0 0

Receivables from reinsurers 1,489 0 0
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Receivables from policyholders and insurance brokers 3,642,121 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 3,501,374 0 0

Total 26,754,905 28,405,478 4,674,772

Distribution of financial liabilities by remaining maturity as at 31 December 2012

Remaining maturity 0-1 years 1-3 years

Payables to reinsurers 285,095 0

Payables to policyholders 78,509 0

Payables to insurance brokers 773,825 0

Payables to suppliers and other payables 1,005,907 650

Total 2,143,336 650

Distribution of financial liabilities by remaining maturity as at 31 December 2011

Remaining maturity 0-1 years 1-3 years

Payables to reinsurers 237,343 0

Payables to policyholders 92,431 0

Payables to insurance brokers 801,289 0

Payables to suppliers and other payables 1,170,637 22,433

Total 2,301,700 22,433

Future settlement obligations arising from the provision for claims outstanding have been estimated 
as follows:

Remaining maturity 0-1 years 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-7 years 7-10 years
Over  

10 years

Provision for claims out- 
standing at 31 Dec 2012

14,486,797 5,774,210 2,341,435 307,487 402,612 1,479,625

Provision for claims out- 
standing at 31 Dec 2011

15,677,403 5,933,437 2,301,214 625,144 315,312 1,228,814

The estimates are based on recent years’ claims settlement statistics. Most claims are settled and the provi-
sion is used in the first year. Motor third party liability insurance pensions are paid out as annuities. Ap-
proximately half of the pensions that have been provided for will be paid out after more than 10 years.

8. Operational risk management
Operational risk is the risk that the company may suffer a loss because internal processes, people’s activities 
or systems are inadequate, do not operate or are not performed in the expected manner or an undesirable 
external event occurs. The company regards legal risk as part of its operational risk. 



39Annual report 2012

Implementation and enforcement of the company’s operational risk policies is the responsibility of the com-
pany’s management board. In the company’s everyday operation, this responsibility is assigned to heads of 
departments and functions. To prevent the threats arising from both insurance and operational risks and to 
coordinate relevant risk management, at the end of 2012 Seesam created the position of Chief Risk Officer 
(CRO) responsible for cooperation with OP-Pohjola Group’s Operational Risk and Compliance unit. 

Seesam’s business operations are highly dependent on information technology and IT systems. Partly, the IT 
solutions have been outsourced. Seesam pays close attention to the security of its databases and endeavours 
to prevent risks that may result from viruses or system malfunctions or failures. The company has business 
continuity and disaster recovery plans for its IT systems.

Seesam has established clear outsourcing rules and, in order mitigate business continuity risks, has adopted 
a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) developed in partnership with the parent company’s risk management 
specialists. In planning our business continuity activities, we consider the three main threats faced by con-
temporary companies: something might happen to the premises where we serve our customers or do our 
work, something serious might happen to our staff, or there might be an extensive failure in our IT systems. 
According to the BCP plan, when a threat occurs we will form a crisis committee that will be responsible for 
commencing the planned activities and disseminating information about the situation. Business continuity 
risks are tested according to the BCP testing plan and the BCP is revised and updated as and when necessary.

9. Capital management
Capital adequacy is of vital importance to an insurer. The available solvency margin is directly related to 
an insurance company’s risk bearing capacity which describes the ratio of the company’s available solvency 
margin to significant items in the statement of financial position and the statement of comprehensive income.

The ratios of the available solvency margin to claims incurred and premiums earned characterise the com-
pany’s ability to cope with various insurance risks. The ratio of the available solvency margin to insurance 
provisions describes the company’s ability to cope with errors made in the estimation of provisions. 

2012 (€m)
Risk bearing 
capacity (%)

2011 (€m)
Risk bearing 
capacity (%)

Available solvency margin 29.8 - 24.5 -

Claims incurred 24.8 120% 28.9 85%

Premiums earned

(net of reinsurance)
43.8 68% 36.8 67%

Insurance provisions

(net of reinsurance)
40.0 75% 39.1 63%

Investment portfolio 59.0 51% 52.0 47%

Requirements to insurance companies’ solvency are set out in the Insurance Activities Act. Under Section 
71(3) of the Insurance Activities Act, the company’s absolute minimum capital requirement is 3.5 million 
euros. At 31 December 2012, the company’s required minimum solvency margin (calculated in accordance 
with the above Act) was 8.2 million euros while the available solvency margin was 29.8 million euros. Thus, 
the minimum solvency margin requirement is satisfied 3.6-fold.
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2012 2011

Available solvency margin 29,821,059 24,527,302

Required minimum solvency margin  8,218,007 8,239,616

Absolute minimum capital requirement 3,500,000 3,500,000

Solvency surplus    21,603,052 16,287,686

Minimum share capital 3,000,000 3,000,000

Note 4. Premiums  

Gross  
premiums 

written 2012

Ceded to 
reinsurers 

2012

Gross  
premiums 

written 2011

Ceded to 
reinsurers 

2011

Comprehensive auto insurance 16,087,358 -99,645 13,801,742 -71,022

Motor TPL insurance 9,755,886 -263,640 7,455,510 -228,455

Property and construction risks 
insurance 

6,599,053 -1,504,665 4,589,969 -1,171,776

Home insurance 6,305,419 -198,009 5,371,601 -214,972

Short-term health insurance* 6,863,700 -81,712 3,934,757 -75,659

Liability insurance 1,724,313 -421,187 1,506,064 -342,120

Business interruption insurance 444,213 -288,711 309,810 -188,474

Goods in transit insurance 108,428 -76,481 124,283 -53,987

Small boat insurance 44,509 -2,925 48,336 -3,000

Guarantee insurance 9,416 -4,946 9,525 -4,646

Total gross premiums written 47,942,295 -2,941,921 37,151,597 -2,354,111

Change in provision for  
unearned premiums**

-1,145,486 -97,327 2,248,697 -176,850

Total net earned premiums 46,796,809 -3,039,248 39,400,294 -2,530,961

* Short-term health insurance comprises travel, accident and health insurance. 
** For further information, please refer to note 17.

2012 Latvia Lithuania Estonia Total

Gross premiums written 12,086,288 12,097,026 23,758,981 47,942,295

Ceded to reinsurers -718,682 -582,865 -1,640,374 -2,941,921
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Note 5. Investment income, net

2012
Investment 

yield

Unrealized 
gain/loss on 

changes in 
value

Gain/loss on 
realization

Total

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

       

 - Fund units 79,375 1,068,447 0 1,147,822

 - Debt securities 1,570,040 228,993 -27,031 1,772,002

Deposits 8,629 0 0 8,629

Total 1,658,044 1,297,440 -27,031 2,928,453

2011
Investment 

yield

Unrealized 
gain/loss on 

changes in 
value

Gain/loss on 
realization

Total

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

 - Fund units 80,115 -830,200 99,114 -650,971

 - Debt securities 1,428,604 -218,668 -309,749 900,187

Deposits 13,870 -8,663 0 5,207

Other 61 0 0 61

Total 1,522,650 -1,057,531 -210,635 254,484

Note 6. Other operating income
2012 2011

Reinsurance commissions and profit participation 79,327 70,688

Reinsurers’ share of acquisition costs 9,407 -1,160

Other income 138,900 223,444

Total other operating income 227,634 292,972
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Note 7. Claims and claims handling costs
Claims

From insurance  
contracts 2012

Reinsurers’ 
share 2012

From insurance  
contracts 2011

Reinsurers’ 
share 2011

Comprehensive vehicle insurance 10,012,796 932 11,586,223 22

Motor TPL insurance 6,724,534 -17,726 6,896,571 -90,569

Property and construction risks 
insurance 

1,846,346 -24,295 2,124,702 -580,729

Home insurance 3,465,473 -123,620 2,661,094 65

Short-term health insurance* 3,496,149 -3,103 2,110,859 -20,904

Business interruption insurance 87,245 -52,522 264,466 63,465

Liability insurance 353,833 2,676 267,610 -193,345

Goods in transit insurance 24,960 0 75,984 0

Small boat insurance 55,737 0 52,486 0

Total claims and handling 
costs paid

26,067,073 -217,658 26,039,995 -821,995

Change in provision for claims 
outstanding

-1,289,158 865,254 2,877,484 -1,031,400

Total claims and handling 
costs incurred

24,777,915 647,596 28,917,479 -1,853,395

* Short-term health insurance comprises travel, accident and health insurance.

In the statement of comprehensive income, the line item Claims and claims handling costs incurred includes 
the change in the provision for claims outstanding (see note 17) as well as claims handling costs of 2,211,627 
euros (2011: 1,384,513 euros). The amount of claims paid does not match the amount of Claims and claims 
handling costs paid in the statement of cash flows because the amount presented in the table above includes 
also indirectly allocable costs.

Claims handling costs

2012 2011

Salaries 1,412,494 1,005,644

Other operating expenses 430,466 126,907

Change in the value of property and equipment and intangible assets 95,131 116,019

Services purchased 273,536 135,944

Total 2,211,627 1,384,514
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Note 8. Operating expenses

Operating expenses are divided into acquisition costs and administrative expenses as follows:

2012 2011

Staff costs 6,289,975 4,316,468

Acquisition costs 3,291,269 2,240,302

Administrative expenses 2,998,706 2,076,166

Commissions to brokers 5,145,917 3,768,564

Acquisition costs 5,145,917 3,768,564

Change in the value of property and equipment and intangible assets 533,082 299,590

Acquisition costs 147,583 153,280

Administrative expenses 385,499 146,310

Rentals and utilities costs paid 531,532 523,696

Acquisition costs 325,803 252,220

Administrative expenses 205,729 271,476

Other operating expenses 3,579,168 2,854,481

Acquisition costs 1,373,021 708,395

Administrative expenses 2,206,148 2,146,086

Total 16,079,674 11,762,799

Change in deferred acquisition costs -105,390 39,819

Total acquisition costs 10,178,203 7,162,580

Total administrative expenses 5,796,082 4,640,038

Investment management expenses 138,930 116,177

Total operating expenses 16,113,215 11,918,795

The composition of claims handling costs is presented in note 7. In 2012, the average number of staff was 361 (2011: 349).

Note 9. Reinsurance result

2012 2011

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (note 4) -2,941,921 -2,354,111

Reinsurers’ share of change in provision for unearned premiums (note 4) -97,327 -176,850

Reinsurers’ share of commissions paid (note 6) 79,030 70,688

Reinsurers’ share of claims paid  (note 7) 217,658 821,995

Reinsurers’ share of change in provision for claims outstanding (note 7) -865,254 1,031,400

Reinsurers’ share of acquisition costs (note 6) 9,407 -1160
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Foreign exchange differences on reinsurance (administrative expenses) -14 -103

Net result -3,598,421 -608,141

Note 10. Property and equipment

Buildings Vehicles
IT 

hardware

Office 
equip-

ment

Other 
items

Pre-pay-
ments

Total

Cost at  
31 December 2010

4,192,043 467,556 1,256,803 254,033 418,871 0 6,589,306

Additions 22,980 0 123,954 12,388 15,220 0 174,542

Acquisitions through 
business combinations

0 111,342 81,966 108,323 1,278 20,642 323,551

Disposals 0 -107,161 -94,690 -59,086 -22,201 0 -283,138

Cost at  
31 December 2011

4,215,023 471,737 1,368,033 315,658 413,168 20,642 6,804,261

Additions 36,631 0 142,859 44,533 87,276 0 311,299

Disposals 0 0 -6,229 -37,328 -688 0 -44,245

Cost at  
31 December 2012

4,251,654 471,737 1,504,663 322,863 499,756 20,642 7,071,315

Accumulated  
depreciation at  
31 December 2010

-247,522 -338,278 -1,185,322 -162,709 -255,360 0 -2,189,191

Depreciation for the 
year

-84,133 -73,774 -51,694 -50,110 -25,023 0 -284,734

Disposals 0 107,038 66,283 51,080 22,201 0 246,602

Accumulated depre-
ciation at  
31 December 2011

-331,655 -305,014 -1,170,733 -161,739 -258,182 0 -2,227,323

Depreciation for  
the year

-84,625 -69,907 -102,896 -68,479 -29,106 0 -355,013

Disposals 0 0 4,971 30,418 0 -10,042 25,347

Accumulated depre-
ciation at  
31 December 2012

-416,280 -374,921 -1,268,658 -199,800 -287,288 -10,042 -2,556,989

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2011

3,883,368 166,723 197,300 153,919 154,986 20,642 4,576,938

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2012

3,835,374 96,816 236,005 123,063 212,468 10,600 4,514,326
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Note 11. Intangible assets

Intangible assets

Software

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 135,091

Acquisitions through business combinations 712,959

Additions 202,486

Amortisation for the year -329,171

Cost at 31 December 2011 1,345,897

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2011 -624,532

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 721,365

Additions 258,795

Disposals -16,161

Amortisation for the year -273,201

Cost at 31 December 2012 1,588,531

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2012 -897,733

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 690,798

Intangible insurance assets (deferred acquisition costs)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 1,017,256

Amortised portion -978,105

Additions from new contracts 691,612

Reduction as a result of liability adequacy test (LAT) 0

Acquisitions through business combinations 1,156,030

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 1,886,793

Amortised portion -1,839,292

Additions from new contracts 1,944,680

Reduction as a result of LAT 0

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 1,992,182

 
At 31 December 2012, other intangible assets and intangible insurance assets (deferred acquisition costs) 
totalled 2,682,980 euros (2011: 2,608,158 euros).
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Note 12. Investments in financial instruments

The company’s investments in debt instruments, equities and fund units are classified as financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale financial assets include an EGCC D-share, which is meas-
ured at cost. Fixed and floating rate debt instruments include government bonds and debt securities issued by 
companies and financial institutions.

The fair value of investments in financial instruments is determined using the active market prices quoted in 
the Bloomberg trading system. The fair value of unlisted financial instruments is determined using generally 
accepted valuation techniques. If a security does not have a listed market price, a price range is derived based 
on its end-of-the-month price using the swap curve.

The three-level fair value hierarchy provided in IFRS 7:

• financial instruments whose  fair value is determined by reference to quoted prices in active 
markets for identical instruments; 

• financial instruments whose  fair value is determined by reference to directly observable market 
inputs; 

• financial instruments whose fair value is determined by reference to inputs that are not based 
on observable market data.

Under the three-level fair value hierarchy provided in IFRS 7, at 31 December 2012 all of the company’s 
financial instruments that are measured at fair value fell into the Level 1 category.

Level 1
As at 31 

December 2012
As at 31 

December 2011

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 49,640,446 43,990,392

Equities and fund units at fair value through profit or loss 9,036,362 7,967,096

Total 58,676,808 51,957,488

EGCC D-share

As at 31 December   2012 2011

Available-for-sale financial asset 35,000 35,000

Ownership interest 0.29% 0.29%

 As at 31 December   2012 2011

Fixed income securities    

Government bonds 21,703,261 26,026,552

Debt securities issued by financial institutions 16,947,210 8,361,262

Debt securities issued by companies 10,489,762 9,103,429

Total 49,140,233 43,491,243

Floating rate securities



47Annual report 2012

Debt securities issued by companies 500,213 499,149

Total 500,213 499,149

Total debt securities 49,640,446 43,990,392

Note 13. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

 
Carrying 

amount
Fair value

Carrying 
amount

Fair value

As at 31 December   2012 2012 2011 2011

Debt securities at fair value 
through profit or loss (note 12)  

49,640,446 49,640,446 43,990,392 43,990,392

Equities and fund units at fair 
value through profit or loss  
(note 12)

9,036,362 9,036,362 7,967,096 7,967,096

Available-for-sale financial  
assets (note 12)

35,000 -* 35,000 -*

Term deposits 290,236 290,236 0 0

Receivables from policyholders 
and insurance brokers and other 
receivables (note 15)

4,474,298 4,474,298 4,341,293 4,341,293

Cash and cash equivalents  
(note 14)

3,218,670 3,218,670 3,501,374 3,501,374

Total financial assets 66,695,012 66,660,012 59,835,155 59,800,155

 

Payables to reinsurers (note 15) 285,095 285,095 237,343 237,343

Payables to policyholders  
(note 18)

78,509 78,509 92,431 92,431

Payables to insurance brokers 
(note 18)

773,825 773,825 801,289 801,289

Payables to suppliers and other 
payables (note 19)

1,006,557 1,006,557 1,193,070 1,193,070

Total financial  liabilities 2,143,986 2,143,986 2,324,133 2,324,133

* The fair value of the share in EGCC has not been determined because it cannot be measured reliably. Management has no intention 

of disposing of the share in EGCC.



48Annual report 2012

Note 14. Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December  2012 2011

Cash on hand 12,046 30,362

Demand deposits 3,206,624 3,471,012

Total 3,218,670 3,501,374

Cash and cash equivalents by currency

As at 31 December  2012 2011

EUR 1,967,691 2,604,935

USD 13,479 2,506

LVL 460,163 802,100

LTL 777,337 91,833

Total 3,218,670 3,501,374

In 2012, the interest rates of overnight deposits ranged from 0.1% to 0.2%. The interest rates of term deposits 
ranged from 0.3% to 3.8%. 

Note 15. Receivables 

Other receivables

As at 31 December  2012 2011

Filed subrogation claims* 568,042 542,058

Salvaged assets 56,182 67,349

Miscellaneous receivables 120,140 88,276

Prepaid expenses 225,395 232148

Total 969,759 929,831

* Filed subrogation claims comprise claims of 2,832,607 euros less an impairment loss of 2,264,565 euros (2011: claims of 2,702,136 
euros less an impairment loss of 2,160,078 euros).

Reinsurance assets

As at 31 December  2012 2011

Reinsurers’ share of provision for unearned premiums 157,185 254,511

Reinsurers’ share of provision for claims outstanding 2,763,277 3,628,531

Total 2,920,462 3,883,042
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Receivables and payables from reinsurance contracts by reinsurer  

 As at 31 December 2012 Receivable Payable Net receivable Net payable

Pohjola Insurance Ltd 9,844 158,024 0 148,180

Swiss Re 0 2,456 0 2,456

MAI 0 1,962 0 1,962

RSA 0 0 0 0

AXA 0 66,431 0 66,431

Chubb 12,937 20,866 0 7,929

Ingosstrakh 446 18 428 0

Munich Re 405 1,760 405 1,760

IF P & C 6,732 34,568 0 27,836

Chartis 6,744 28,407 1,118 22,781

Partner Re 304 1,016 0 712

Codan 215 3,551 0 3,336

Converium 177 931 0 754

World Evans Group 143 456 0 313

AIU North America 448 1,074 19 645

ELKF 3,107 0 3,107 0

Total 41,502 321,520 5,077 285,095

 As at 31 December 2011 Receivable Payable Net receivable Net payable

Pohjola Insurance Ltd 6,142 91,215 0 85,073

Swiss Re 0 2,468 0 2,468

MAI 0 1,251 0 1,251

RSA 2,143 7,246 0 5,103

AXA 0 68,755 0 68,755

Chubb 5,656 19,439 0 13,783

Ingosstrakh 4,394 8,098 0 3,704

Munich Re 405 0 405 0

IF P & C 6,897 35,414 0 28,517

Chartis 6,693 28,736 1,066 23,109

Partner Re 312 1,041 0 729

Codan 220 3,638 0 3,418

Converium 181 953 0 772

World Evans Group 117 778 0 661
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AIU North America 332 314 18 0

Total 33,492 269,346 1,489 237,343

Receivables from and payables to a reinsurer are presented in the statement of financial position in the net 
amount, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the reinsurance contracts. All receivables fall due 
within the next 12 months.

Other insurance payables (see note 18) include reinsurers’ share of acquisition costs of 15,695 euros (2011: 
25,101 euros).

Receivables from policyholders and insurance brokers 

As at 31 December 2012 2011

 Receivables from policyholders and insurance brokers 3,724,857 3,642,121

 Total 3,724,857 3,642,121

All receivables fall due within the next 12 months. In 2012, receivables of 21,554 euros were considered doubt-
ful and recognised as an expense (2011: 3,463 euros).

Note 16. Equity

As at 31 December 2012 2011

 Share capital 3,000,000 3,000,000

 Number of shares 469,398 469,398

 Par value of a share (in euros) no par value no par value

According to the articles of association, the company’s minimum and maximum authorised share capital 
amount to 3,000,000 euros and 12,000,000 euros respectively. All shares are registered shares without par 
value and of the same class and carry equal rights.

The company’s sole shareholder is Pohjola Insurance Ltd that holds 100% of the company’s voting power. The 
company has issued ordinary shares of one class. The shares provide the holder with all the rights listed in the 
Estonian Commercial Code: the right to attend the general meeting, to participate in the distribution of profits 
and the distribution of residual assets on the dissolution of the company, to obtain from the management 
board information about the company’s operation (at the general meeting), etc.

Reserves comprise the mandatory capital reserve (see note 1 subsection 10). At 31 December 2012, the capital 
reserve stood at 1,009,886 euros (2011: 1,009,886 euros).
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Note 17. Insurance contract liabilities 
 
As at 31 December 2012 2011

Provision for unearned premiums 17,274,353 16,346,422

Provision for claims outstanding

Provision for claims incurred and reported 18,946,817 20,574,653

Provision for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 4,567,290 4,469,512

Provision for indirect claims handling costs 1,278,059 1,037,159

Total provision for claims outstanding 24,792,166 26,081,324

Unexpired risk provision 808,301 590,747

Total insurance provisions 42,874,820 43,018,493

 

Reinsurers’ share of provision for unearned premiums 157,185 254,511

Reinsurers’ share of provision for claims outstanding 2,763,277 3,628,531

Total reinsurance assets 2,920,462 3,883,042

Insurance provisions net of reinsurance 39,954,358 39,135,451

Provision for claims outstanding 

 As at 31 December 2012 2011

 Provision for claims incurred and reported 18,946,817 20,574,653

Provision for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 4,567,290 4,469,512

Provision for indirect claims handling costs 1,278,059 1,037,159

Total provision for claims outstanding 24,792,166 26,081,324

 

Reinsurers’ share of provision for claims incurred and reported 2,726,405 3,580,130

Reinsurers’ share of provision for claims incurred but not reported 36,872 48,401

Reinsurers’ share of provision for claims outstanding 2,763,277 3,628,531

Provision for claims outstanding net of reinsurance 22,028,889 22,452,793

 
Liability adequacy test

The company has assessed the adequacy of its insurance provisions using a liability adequacy test. The test 
indicated that in some classes of insurance the estimated future cash flows under the contracts exceeded the 
carrying amount of relevant insurance liabilities. The difference of 808,300 euros (2011: 590,747 euros) has 
been recognised within the unexpired risk provision. In other classes of insurance the test indicated that 
insurance liabilities were adequate in light of the estimated future cash flows.
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Unexpired risk provision

Insurance class 31 December 2012 31 December 2012

Home insurance 68,354 0

Health insurance 331,033 0

Comprehensive vehicle insurance 92,144 126,602

Motor third party liability insurance 300,482 464,145

Travel insurance 16,288 0

Total 808,301 590,747

Changes in the provision for claims outstanding

2012 
Liabilities 

from insur-
ance contracts

Receivables 
from reinsur-

ance contracts
Net

At 1 January 26,081,324 3,628,531 22,452,793

Claims incurred 30,920,771 554,223 30,366,548

Claims paid -26,067,073 217,658 -26,284,731

Change in prior periods’ provision -6,142,856 -1,637,135 -4,505,721

At 31 December 24,792,166 2,763,277 22,028,889

2011
Liabilities 

from insur-
ance contracts

Receivables 
from reinsur-

ance contracts
Net

At 1 January 10,908,375 461,146 10,447,229

Claims incurred 32,979,853 1,782,264 31,197,589

Claims paid -25,963,957 -821,995 -25,141,962

Change in prior periods’ provision -4,138,413 71,130 -4,209,543

Acquisitions through business combinations 12,295,466 2,135,986 10,159,480

At 31 December 26,081,324 3,628,531 22,452,793

Changes in the provision for unearned premiums 

2012

Liabilities 
from insur-

ance con-
tracts

Receivables 
from reinsur-

ance contracts
Net

At 1 January 16,346,422 254,511 16,091,911

Premiums written 47,942,295 2,941,921 45,000,374

Premiums earned -47,014,364 -3,039,247 -43,975,117

At 31 December 17,274,353 157,185 17,117,168
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2011

Liabilities 
from insur-

ance con-
tracts

Receivables 
from reinsur-

ance contracts
Net

At 1 January 8,485,066 59,833 8,425,233

Premiums written 37,151,597 2,354,111 34,797,486

Premiums earned -39,499,736 -2,530,961 -36,968,775

Acquisitions through business combinations 10,209,495 371,528 9,837,967

At 31 December 16,346,422 254,511 16,091,911

In the statement of comprehensive income, the line item Changes in the provision for unearned premiums 
includes the change in the unexpired risk provision.

Note 18. Other insurance payables

As at 31 December 2012 2011

Prepayments from policyholders 706,099 637,453

Approved indemnities payable to policyholders 78,509 92,431

Payables to insurance brokers 773,825 801,289

Reinsurers’ share of acquisition costs 15,695 25,101

Other insurance payables 1,574,128 1,556,274

Note 19. Other liabilities

As at 31 December 2012 2011

Other payables 380,234 234,615

Vacation pay liabilities 403,310 339,212

Payables to suppliers 192,085 588,710

Finance lease payables 30,928 30,533

Total payables to suppliers and other payables 1,006,557 1,193,070

Income tax payable 63,431 62,796

Social security tax payable 129,624 107,058

Total tax liabilities 193,055 169,854

Other provisions 620,341 18,905

Total 1,819,953 1,381,829
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Other provisions of 620,341 euros comprise an estimated provision for bonuses payable for performance dur-
ing the financial year and a provision for termination benefits.

Note 20. Operating and finance leases

Operating leases

The company as a lessee 

In 2012, the company made contractual operating lease payments for office premises. 

2012 2011

Operating lease rentals paid 499,162 314,100

All operating leases on premises can be terminated by giving up to one year’s notice. 

If the leases are not cancelled, operating lease rentals payable in the next financial year will amount to 
332,946 euros.

The company as a lessor 

The company is a lessor under one operating lease on office premises that can be terminated by giving six 
months’ notice.

2012 2011

Operating lease rentals received 31,616 30,359

Finance leases

The company as a lessee 

In 2012, the company paid 16,078 euros in finance lease rentals for a vehicle. At 31 December 2012, the 
company’s finance lease liability amounted to 30,928 euros and the carrying amount of the leased asset was 
43,465 euros. The interest rate of the lease is floating – the base rate is 3 month Euribor plus a margin of 0.5%.

Future rentals under the above lease are payable as follows:

Lease payments in euros

Payable within 1 year 30,278

Payable between 1 and 5 years 650
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Note 21. Contingent liabilities 

Litigations 

The claims filed against Seesam Insurance AS in connection with insurance activities have been recorded in 
insurance databases and have been provided for in the statement of financial position.

Note 22. Income tax 

Income tax expense/income

  2012 2011

Income tax expense    

Change in deferred income tax 111,732 -95

Total income tax expense/income 111,732 -95

Recognised deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 December 2012 2011

Deductible temporary differences on

Property and equipment 68,590 79,978

Other liabilities (vacation pay liabilities to employees) -45,496 -46,845

Total recognised deferred tax liabilities 23,095 33,133

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2012 2011

Tax losses 212,892 348,462

Deductible temporary differences 37,823 20,932

Total unrecognised deferred tax assets 250,715 369,394

The tax losses from the operation of the Lithuanian branch have not been recognised in the statement of fi-
nancial position as a deferred tax asset because according to management’s estimates they cannot be utilised 
in the foreseeable future. 

Reconciliation of accounting profit and income tax expense

As at 31 December 2012 2011

Profit before tax 5,374,922 -1,566,090

The company’s domestic tax rate 0% 0 0

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 350,417 122,606
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Effect of exempt income and taxable expenses -60,213 -62,413

Utilisation of unrealized tax losses carried forward -151,543 -60,193

Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets -16,891 0

Change in recognised deferred tax assets -10,038 -95

Effect of income tax of previous years 0 0

Income tax expense/income for the year 111,732 -95

At 31 December 2012, the company’s unrestricted equity amounted to 26,501,971 euros (2011: 21,238,781 
euros). Dividend distributions to shareholders are subject to income tax calculated as 21/79 of the amount 
distributed as the net dividend. Thus, the maximum amount that could be distributed as a dividend using 
unrestricted equity as at the reporting date is 21,449,335 euros and the distribution would result in an income 
tax liability of 5,052,636 euros.

Income tax expense has been calculated, taking into account the fact that the profits of the Latvian and 
Lithuanian entities are taxed as earned in their domiciles.

Distributable profit has been found without taking into account the provisions of the Insurance Activities 
Act, which state that the amount of retained earnings that can be distributed to shareholders is calculated by 
deducting from retained earnings the carrying amount of intangible assets.

Note 23. Transactions with related parties 

Related parties include:

• the shareholder (Pohjola Insurance Ltd)

• other group companies (Pohjola Bank plc, Pohjola Finance Estonia AS, Pohjola Asset Manage-
ment Ltd, Pohjola IT-Procurement Ltd)

• members of the management and supervisory boards

• close family members of and companies connected with the above

The company has reinsurance contracts with its parent Pohjola Insurance Ltd.

  Recognised reinsurance Commissions and

  premiums indemnities received

  2012 2011 2012 2011

Pohjola Insurance Ltd 2,804,289 2,067,647 250,824 880,880

The company has an investment management contract with Pohjola Asset Management Ltd.

 
Services purchased

2012 2011

Pohjola Asset Management Ltd 138,930 116,177
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Receivables and payables as at 31 December 2012

  Pohjola Insurance Ltd

Reinsurance receivables 0

Other receivables 7,975

Total receivables 7,975

 

Reinsurance payables 148,180

Other payables 0

Total payables 148,180

Receivables and payables as at 31 December 2011

  Pohjola Insurance Ltd

Reinsurance receivables 6,142

Other receivables 14,244

Total receivables 20,386

 

Reinsurance payables 91,215

Other payables 20,288

Total payables 111,503

The company purchases car leasing services from Pohjola Finance Estonia AS. In 2012, services purchased 
totalled 80,489 euros (2011: 23,191 euros).

In 2012, the remuneration of the members of the management board amounted to 439,629 euros (2011: 91,805 
euros) and termination benefits totalled 139,331 euros.

The remuneration of the chairman and members of the management board consists of basic remuneration and 
performance benefits. The proportion of performance benefits does not exceed 30% of the basic remuneration.

Performance benefits are provided based on various ratios that reflect the performance of Seesam Insurance 
AS and achievement of the personal work goals of the person involved. Under the terms of contract, one 
management board member is entitled to termination benefits 

In 2012 and in 2011, members of the supervisory board were not remunerated.
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Signatures to annual report 2012

The management board of Seesam Insurance AS has prepared the report by the management board and the 
annual financial statements for 2012. The annual report is signed on 18 March 2013 by:

____________________    

Chairman of the management board     

Toomas Abner      

____________________    

Member of the management board      

Andri Püvi   

____________________    

Member of the management board      

Brigita Elona Blavaščičnienč 

____________________    

Member of the management board      

Aigars Freimanis   

   



59Annual report 2012

Independent auditors’ report
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Profit allocation proposal

The management board of Seesam Insurance AS has approved the profit for 2012 of 5,263,190 euros. The 
management board proposes that the profit for 2012 be transferred to retained earnings.

____________________    

Chairman of the management board     

Toomas Abner      

____________________    

Member of the management board      

Andri Püvi   

____________________    

Member of the management board      

Brigita Elona Blavašciuniene 

____________________    

Member of the management board      

Aigars Freimanis   

   

ˇ  ̄ ˙
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List of business activities

Activities during the period 1 January – 31 December 2012 Revenue

Non-life insurance (65121) 47,942,294

Total 47,942,294

Activities planned for the period 1 January – 31 December 2013

Non-life insurance (65121)


